7-19-2017

State v. Fife Appellant's Brief Dckt. 44685

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case

Alan Bryan Fife appeals from the district court's order revoking probation. He asserts that the district court abused its discretion when it denied his Idaho Criminal Rule 35 motion for a reduction of sentence made at the disposition hearing.

Statement of the Facts and Course of Proceedings

In 2012, Mr. Fife pleaded guilty to one count of aggravated battery, and the district court imposed a sentence of ten years, with three years fixed, but suspended the sentence and placed Mr. Fife on probation for three years. (R., pp.136-40.) Subsequently, in 2014, Mr. Fife admitted to probation violations, and the district court revoked Mr. Fife's probation and executed his

underlying sentence, but retained jurisdiction. (R., pp.241-44.) After Mr. Fife successfully completed a CAPP rider, the district court placed Mr. Fife on probation again for three years on May 15, 2015. (R., pp.253-56.)

On February 19, 2016, the Idaho Department of Correction submitted a “special progress report” to the district court, which indicated that Mr. Fife had “missed several of his substance tests, and admitted to using methamphetamine from 10/19/15 – 11/19/15.” (R., p.259.) The report also indicated that Mr. Fife was discharged from an aftercare program based on “noncompliance” and “unexcused absences.” (R., p.259.) The State then filed a motion to revoke Mr. Fife’s probation. (R., pp.262-64.) At the subsequent admit/deny hearing, the district court found Mr. Fife had violated his probation by failing to appear for drug testing, using methamphetamine, and getting discharged from aftercare and relapse prevention programs for failing to attend and/or continued drug use. (5/3/16 Tr., p.19, L.25 – p.20, L.12.)

The State asked the district court to set out the disposition hearing because Mr. Fife was allegedly involved in a battery at the jail during the prior month. (5/3/16 Tr., p.20, L.13 – p.21, L.3.) It also filed another motion to revoke probation. (R., pp.304-05.) At the subsequent disposition hearing, Mr. Fife’s counsel said that Mr. Fife had entered a guilty plea to one count of misdemeanor battery, and Mr. Fife later admitted to a new law violation. (10/4/16 Tr., p.23, L.21 – p.25, L.17.) The district court then found Mr. Fife had violated his probation again, and Mr. Fife’s counsel agreed to proceed to disposition. (10/4/16 Tr., p.25, Ls.18-22.)

The State requested that the district court execute the underlying sentence. (10/4/16 Tr., p.26, L.4 – p.30, L.14.) Mr. Fife’s counsel requested that the district court execute the underlying sentence also, but asked the district court—pursuant to Idaho Criminal Rule 35—to reduce the fixed portion of the sentence from three years fixed to two years fixed. (10/4/16

Tr., p.30, Ls.16-21.) Counsel then argued in support of that sentence reduction, but the district court ultimately denied the Rule 35 motion and executed the original underlying sentence. (10/4/16 Tr., p.30, L.22 – p.33, L.13, p.36, L.24; R., pp.322-25.) Mr. Fife filed a notice of appeal timely from the district court’s order revoking probation. (R., pp.329-31.)

ISSUE

Did the district court abuse its discretion when it denied Mr. Fife’s Rule 35 motion?

ARGUMENT

The District Court Abused Its Discretion When It Denied Mr. Fife’s Rule 35 Motion

Mr. Fife asserts that the district court abused its discretion when it denied his Rule 35 motion because it did not adequately consider Mr. Fife’s progress and productivity while on probation. A motion to alter an otherwise lawful sentence under Rule 35 is addressed to the sound discretion of the sentencing court, and essentially is a plea for leniency which may be granted if the sentence originally imposed was unduly severe. *State v. Trent*, 125 Idaho 251, 253 (Ct. App. 1994). “The criteria for examining rulings denying the requested leniency are the same as those applied in determining whether the original sentence was reasonable.” *Id.* “If the sentence was not excessive when pronounced, the defendant must later show that it is excessive in view of new or additional information presented with the motion for reduction. *Id.* In reviewing a district court’s discretionary decision, an appellate court considers “whether the court acted within the boundaries of such discretion, consistent with any legal standards applicable to its specific choices, and whether the court reached its decision through an exercise of reason.” *State v. Hass*, 114 Idaho 554, 558 (Ct. App. 1988).

At the disposition hearing, Mr. Fife’s counsel presented additional information regarding the positive aspects of Mr. Fife’s probationary period. He pointed out that Mr. Fife was a productive person when he was not using drugs but still struggled with addiction problems. (10/4/16 Tr., p.30, L.24 – p.31, L.3.) He discussed the fact that—after Mr. Fife completed his rider in May of 2015—he had several successful months where he was keeping in contact with his probation officer. (10/4/16 Tr., p.31, Ls.4-8.) Counsel also noted that Mr. Fife’s probation officer did not take Mr. Fife into custody when he discovered Mr. Fife had used drugs again because Mr. Fife was clearly trying to beat his addiction, so his probation officer suggested he try another program. (10/4/16 Tr., p.31, Ls.10-16.) And, when the State moved to revoke his probation, Mr. Fife had actually already started in another relapse prevention program. (10/4/16 Tr., p.31, Ls.16-22.) Mr. Fife had also become a supervisor at a cabinet company during the time he was on probation. (10/4/16 Tr., p.31, Ls.23-24.)

Additionally, counsel explained that Mr. Fife had contacted the staff at the “Victory Home” halfway house, and he was willing to stay at any other halfway house once he was on parole. (10/4/16 Tr., p.32, Ls.16-19.) Counsel also pointed out that Mr. Fife would be willing to “do as many meetings as possible” so that he could address his addiction proactively after he was released on parole. (10/4/16 Tr., p.32, Ls.19-22.)

The district court did not adequately consider this additional information. As such, it did not reach its decision to deny Mr. Fife’s Rule 35 motion through an exercise of reason. Therefore, it abused its discretion.

CONCLUSION

Mr. Fife respectfully requests that this Court reduce his sentence as it deems appropriate.