10-11-2017

State v. Fife Respondent's Brief Dckt. 44685

Issue

Should Fife’s appeal be dismissed because he waived his rights to appeal his sentence and to file a Rule 35 motion?

Fife’s Appeal Should Be Dismissed Because He Waived The Rights To Appeal His Sentence And To File A Rule 35 Motion

The state charged Fife with aggravated battery, with a persistent violator enhancement. (R., pp.72-75.) Pursuant to a plea agreement, Fife pled guilty to aggravated battery, the state dismissed the enhancement, and the parties stipulated to the imposition of “a sentence of 3-10 years, with a 3 year probation.” (R., p.115.) As part of the plea agreement, Fife “waive[d] the

right to: (1) file a Rule 35 Motion regarding the initial Judgment (except as to an illegal sentence) and (2) appeal any issues in this case, including all matters involving the plea or the sentence” unless the court exceeded the state’s sentencing recommendation and/or recommendation for probation. (R., p.115.) The district court accepted Fife’s plea, imposed the agreed upon sentence, and placed Fife on probation for three years. (R., pp.136-59.)

In May 2014, the state filed a motion to revoke Fife’s probation, alleging Fife had violated the terms of his probation by failing to report to his probation officer as instructed, purchasing and using a semi-automatic handgun, failing to enroll in and complete Anger Management treatment as directed, admitting to smoking oxycodone and methamphetamine, being in possession of suboxone without a valid prescription, altering a UA test with a family member’s urine sample, and associating with multiple known felons. (R., pp.212-24.) Fife admitted two of the allegations, and the district court found the state proved all but one of the others. (R., pp.229-30.) The court revoked Fife’s probation and executed his underlying sentence, but retained jurisdiction. (R., pp.241-45.) Near the end of the retained jurisdiction period, on May 15, 2015, the district court suspended the balance of Fife’s sentence and reinstated him on probation for three years. (R., pp.253-58.)

In February 2016, Fife’s probation officer submitted a “Special Progress Report,” alerting the district court that Fife “missed several of his substance tests, and admitted to using Methamphetamine from 10/19/15 – 11/19/15,” that he “was sanctioned to increased random substance testing five times monthly,” but that he had “continued to miss several of his substance tests.” (R., p.259.) The officer also reported that Fife had been discharged from New Directions Aftercare and from RTR/Relapse Prevention group for non-compliance and failure to attend. (R., pp.259-61.) The state thereafter filed a motion to revoke Fife’s probation, alleging Fife had

violated his probation by failing to appear for multiple UA tests, admitting to using methamphetamine, and being discharged from his aftercare programs. (R., pp.262-70.) Following an evidentiary hearing, the district court found Fife in violation of his probation as alleged. (R., p.302.)

Before the disposition hearing on the aforementioned probation violations, the state filed another motion to revoke probation, alleging Fife had committed a battery while incarcerated in the Twin Falls County Jail. (R., pp.304-11.) Fife admitted the violation. (R., p.321.)

At the disposition hearing on all of the probation violations, Fife's counsel asked the court to execute Fife's sentence but to "use its authority under Rule 35 to reduce the fixed time from a three-year sentence to a two-year sentence." (10/4/16 Tr., p.30, Ls.17-21; see also p.33, Ls.11-13.) Noting that Fife had stipulated to the underlying sentence, the court denied the request, revoked Fife's probation, and executed his underlying sentence without reduction. (10/4/16 Tr. p.36, L.12 – p.37, L.1.) Fife filed a notice of appeal, timely from the district court's order revoking probation. (R., pp.329-36, 346-50.)

Fife asserts that the district court abused its discretion by denying his oral Rule 35 motion, contending the court "did not adequately consider" the "additional informational regarding the positive aspects of Mr. Fife's probationary period" that trial counsel presented at the disposition hearing. (Appellant's brief, p.4.) Fife's appeal should be dismissed because he stipulated to the imposition of the underlying sentence and specifically waived his rights to file a Rule 35 motion for reduction of that sentence and to appeal when he entered into the plea agreement.

The right of a criminal defendant to appeal matters relating to his conviction and/or sentence is a statutory right that may be waived. State v. Cope, 142 Idaho 492, 496, 129 P.3d

1241, 1245 (2006); State v. Murphy, 125 Idaho 456, 457, 872 P.2d 719, 720 (1994) (citing I.C. § 19-2801); State v. Taylor, 157 Idaho 369, 372, 336 P.3d 302, 305 (Ct. App. 2014); I.C.R. 11(f). When the waiver of the right to appeal is included as a term of a plea agreement, such waiver is enforceable as long as the record shows that it was voluntarily, knowingly, and intelligently made. Cope, 142 Idaho at 496, 129 P.3d at 1245; Murphy, 125 Idaho at 456, 872 P.2d at 719; State v. Holdaway, 130 Idaho 482, 484, 943 P.2d 72, 74 (Ct. App. 1997).

As part of the plea agreement in this case, Fife stipulated to the imposition of an underlying unified sentence of 10 years, with three years fixed. (R., p.115.) He also waived his rights to file a rule 35 motion and to appeal, as follows:

By accepting this offer the defendant waives the right to: (1) file a Rule 35 Motion regarding the initial Judgment (except as to an illegal sentence) and (2) appeal any issues in this case, including all matters involving the plea or the sentence and any rulings made by the court, including all suppression issues. However, the defendant may appeal the sentence if the Court exceeds: (1) the ~~determinate portion~~ of the State's sentencing recommendation, and/or (2) the State's recommendation of probation, and/or (3) the State's recommendation of retained jurisdiction.

(R., p.115 (underlining and strike-through in original).)

Fife's waivers were broad and ambiguous and included both the waiver of the right to file a Rule 35 motion challenging the stipulated sentence imposed in the initial judgment, as well as the waiver of the right to appeal "any issues in this case, including all matters involving the plea or the sentence." (R., p.115.) Because Fife waived his right to seek a reduction of the sentence to which he stipulated and also waived his right to appeal "all matters involving the plea or sentence," his appeal from the denial of his oral Rule 35 motion should be dismissed. See Taylor, 157 Idaho at 372-73, 336 P.3d at 305-06 (dismissing appeal from denial of Rule 35 motion because "Taylor's plea agreement, which waives the right to appeal any issues 'involving

sentencing,' unambiguously includes waiver of the right to present this appeal from the denial of his Rule 35 motion for reduction of sentence”).

Even if this Court considers the merits of Fife’s appellate argument, he has failed to establish any abuse of discretion in the denial of his Rule 35 motion. After the district court imposed the stipulated sentence and placed Fife on probation for aggravated battery, Fife repeatedly violated the terms and conditions of his release by using illegal substances, missing UA appointments, altering UA tests, being discharged from treatment and aftercare programs, and committing new crimes, including committing another violent crime—battery—while incarcerated. (R., pp.212-24, 229-30, 259-70, 302, 304-11, 321.) As noted by the district court at the last disposition hearing, Fife stipulated to the sentence he received and “knew the potential, what would happen if [he] ever violated probation.” (10/4/16 Tr., p.36, Ls.12-21.) Fife’s decisions to repeatedly violate the terms of his probation, despite knowing the consequences, did not entitle him to a reduction of sentence.

That the court exercised sound judgment in finding the sentence it had imposed was reasonable is only highlighted by Fife’s behavior immediately after the court announced it would not reduce his sentence. Upon being remanded to the custody of the sheriff, Fife directed a number of expletives at the court, stating: “Stand up, mother fucker. ... Fucking piece of shit. Stand up in that dress. Fucking piece of shit. Move, man. Three fucking – ten years, really? Fuck out of here.” (10/4/16 Tr., p.37, Ls.4-8.)

The district court’s decision to deny Fife’s Rule 35 motion was reasonable in light of Fife’s history of probation violations, his failure to be rehabilitated or deterred despite prior treatment opportunities and legal sanctions, and his display of utter contempt for the court and its orders. Fife has failed to establish an abuse of discretion.

Conclusion

The state respectfully requests that this Court dismiss Fife's appeal or, alternatively, affirm the district court's order revoking Fife's probation and denying his oral Rule 35 motion.